Whalton Mill, Whalton  – Archaeological Desk Based Assessment


SUMMARY

This report has been compiled by the Bamburgh Research Project for Belsay Estate during September 2005. The report sets out the archaeological background, assesses the archaeological potential for the development site and its vicinity, and assesses the history, nature and importance of the standing buildings on the site. 

The development site lies at Whalton Mill, (NGR NZ 1295 8047), which on the How Burn some 1km south of the village of Whalton, Castle Morpeth District, Northumberland. The northern part of the site slopes steeply, while the remainder is relatively level. The site is bounded to the east by the old mill race and to the south by the How Burn.
While there is evidence of prehistoric and Romano-British activity in the general area, there is no indication that features of this date are likely within the development site. While the settlement of Whalton is likely to have originated in the early medieval period, there is again no indication that features of this period are likely to be encountered. During the medieval period Whalton was the head of a barony and is likely to have had a mill, although the location of such is unknown.

The first references to a mill occur in the post-medieval period and cartographic evidence shows several, now demolished, structures and remodelling of others on the site in the 19th and early 20th centuries, while elements of the standing buildings are dated to the 18th and 19th centuries.

The refurbishment and extension of the present mill building have been compiled to be sympathetic to the present structure. The construction of the new east range will impact on the surviving remains of the earlier mill structure still present in this area. The full extent of this impact has, however yet to be defined and could be mitigated by careful design. The detailed plans of the services and access to the site have yet to be defined and as such their impact cannot be predicted at this time. 

PROJECT BACKGROUND

1.0 Introduction 
1.0.1
This report has been compiled by The Bamburgh Research Project for The Belsay Estate during September 2005. The assessment report sets out the archaeological background to the proposed development and the information sources consulted. The report assesses the buildings within the development to establish their history, nature and importance. A written and drawn assessment of the buildings is presented. Recorded archaeological features within the development area and the vicinity are summarised, and the potential for previously unrecorded remains is assessed. The predicted impact of the development upon the standing buildings and on potential archaeology is also assessed.

1.0.2
The Planning Application Number for the proposed development is 05/D/426. The Northumberland County Council Conservation Team reference is CM27/3/4795. The OASIS reference number is bamburghXXXXXX. 
2.0 
THE SITE

2.1
Location

2.1.1
The development site is situated at Whalton Mill, (NGR NZ 1295 8047), which lies on the How Burn some 1km south of the village of Whalton, Castle Morpeth District, Northumberland (Figure 1).

2.2
Description

2.2.1 The site is irregular is shape, measuring 140m north to south, and 80m east to west, encompassing an area of 400m2 (Figure 2). The northern part of the site lies on a south-facing slope, with the remainder of the site being fairly level. The How Burn runs from west to east through the southern part of the site, while a track, seen as a hollow way, runs diagonally across the northern half of the site. A small pond lies to the south of the track. The mill race starts from the Little How Burn, a tributary of the How Burn c.650m north-west of the site, running roughly parallel and north of the How burn until it turns south, running past the remains of the mill building until it joins the How Burn at the south-east corner of the site. Vegetation over the site comprises uncut pasture. Standing structures comprise a house and the remains of the mill building close to the northern edge of the site, with two ancillary byre or barn structures at the western edge of the site. 

2.2.2 The soils and geology consist of Carboniferous (Namurian) rocks, comprising sandstones, shales and limestones with some mud and siltstones. These are overlain by boulder clay. There is the possibility of localised peat deposits adjacent to the How Burn at the south of the site and the mill race at the east.

2.3
Nature of the redevelopment

2.3.1
The proposed works would involve the alteration and refurbishment of the present mill building, including the construction of a new wing on the east side extending over the original extent of the mill building to the mill race. 

3.0
METHODOLOGY AND INFORMATION SOURCES

3.0.1
The aims of the archaeological desk-based assessment are:

· To identify and locate known archaeological sites within or adjacent (within 1km) to the proposed development area 

· To identify areas with the potential to contain unrecorded archaeological remains 

· To asses the impact of previous disturbances and construction on the site

· To assess the physical impact of the development upon the archaeological resource

3.0.2 The standing buildings assessment is based on Level 2 of the RCHME published standards with additional items and comprised:

· To produce a written account of the structure 

· A drawn record of the structure

· A photographic record of the structure

3.0.3
The report is based upon a review of available existing information, desk studies and field evaluation. The following data sources were utilised for the assessments:

· Photographic recording of upstanding buildings and other features

· Sites and monuments record (SMR) 

· Cartographic sources

· Published and unpublished historical and archaeological studies 

· Walkover survey of the proposed development area

4.0
HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND
4.1
The prehistoric period
4.1.1
No known prehistoric sites lie within the immediate vicinity of the site. Prehistoric activity is however known within the general area. Two settlements, of unknown but possibly Iron Age or Romano-British date, lie close to one another at Camp House and Dead Mens Graves, both c.2km to the north-east of Whalton Mill.

4.2
The Roman period

4.2.1
There are no known Roman period sites within the area of the site, although the settlements mentioned above may date to this time. 

4.3
The early medieval period

4.3.1
The village of Whalton is thought to derive its name from the Anglo-Saxon personal name Hwala, or less certainly from an Old Norse word for a hill, together with tun ‘estate/village’ (Mawer 1920, 211-2). Either of the first elements would imply an early medieval origin for the settlement. 

4.4
The medieval period
4.4.1
A barony, based on Whalton, was established in the early 12th century, comprising the whole of the medieval parish of Whalton, together with lands further east in the parishes of Tynemouth, Newburn and Newcastle (Hodgson 1827, 369-70). The parish church of St. Mary Magdalene stands near the south of the village, and contains standing elements dating from the 11th century onwards, while grave slabs from the churchyard date to the late 12th century and later (Pevsner 1992, 622; Ryder 2002, 100-1). The Old Rectory, c.100m north-east of the church contains the remains of a late medieval tower or house, with elements dating from the 14th to 16th centuries (SMR, quoting Pevsner 1992 and Ryder 1994-5). As a manor and baronial centre, Whalton would probably have had a mill, however there are no known references to a mill in the medieval period. The Lay Subsidy Roll of 1296 lists among the taxpayers a shepherd, forester, smith, two reeves and a brewster, but not a miller (Fraser 1968, 69). 

4.5
The post medieval period

4.5.1 The manor of Whalton was bought by Ralph Middleton of Belsay at some time between AD 1611 and 1640 (ZM1B1/11/1) and the manor together with a substantial area remained in the family’s possession into the 19th century. The first documentary reference to the mill appears in a record dated 31st December 1852, where Sir Henry Monck of Belsay buys a messuage, mill and land at Whalton (ZMI/B/IV/4). 

4.5.2
The first map to show the area in any detail is Armstrong’s of 1769. While the adjacent features of Beanley Cross and the Roguery farm are shown, the map does not show a mill (Figure 4). However, the site lies on the edge of two map sheets (8 and 9), and so the mill, like part of the nearby road, may have been omitted. 

4.5.2 Fryer’s map of 1820 shows two buildings to the west of the road (Figure 5). While one, from its position, is likely to be the Roguery, the second is to the south and west of the How Burn. This may be Whalton Mill, but if so, it has been drawn in the wrong place.

4.5.4
Greenwood’s map of 1828 is the first to definitely show Whalton Mill. It marks the site simply as ‘Mill’ showing two separate buildings and a circular symbol, which from its position may represent the mill dam (Figure 6).

4.5.6 Both the Tithe Award map of 1841 and the 1st edition Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map of 1860 show an east-west range of buildings along the northern edge of the site (Figure 7). The north-south element of the mill race is shown as a mill pond, with a dam and sluices, some 90m in length north to south, immediately to the north of the mill buildings. A well is also shown, to the west of the mill dam. The route of the mill race lies slightly to the west of its present course to the south of the buildings. 

4.5.7 The 1st edition OS map also shows a Fish Market immediately to the south-east of the development area. This appears as a length of stream between the mill race to the south of the mill and the How Burn. There are no features marked on the enclosed piece of land. This feature is absent from the 2nd edition and later maps and the area is no longer marked as a fish market.

4.5.8 The 2nd edition 25” to 1 mile map of 1897 shows a number of additional buildings on the site, including the standing byre and cart shed, and forming an L-shaped range of structures (Figure 8). A further building, away from the main range is shown to the south-east. The route of the mill race had been altered to its current, straight position, the earlier route resulting in the small pond still extant on the site.

4.5.9
The 3rd edition OS map of 1922 shows little change to the buildings on the site, but states that the mill was disused, and shows the mill pond as a stream rather than a pond (Figure 9). The OS mapping of the 1950s shows the site and buildings in their current form, with the demolition of many of the buildings. Pevsner described the site, visited in the 1950s as ‘picturesque but ruinous group of 18th century buildings; the house was remodelled c.1840.’ (Pevsner 1957/1992, 624).

5.0
Importance of the archaeology 

5.0.1
Although it is known that this area of the county was settled in the prehistoric and Romano-British periods, there is little archaeological evidence to suggest that the development site itself was occupied. 

5.0.2
The origin of Whalton village, 1km north of the development site, is likely to lie within the early medieval period. This is based entirely on the place name, and as such there is no direct evidence regarding it’s size, nature or location. A likely focus for at least the later Anglo-Saxon period would however be around the parish church, which lies at the southern edge of the village. Mills are known both from documents and excavated remains in the Anglo-Saxon period, for example at Corbridge (Snape 2003). 

5.0.3
The development site lies within the medieval manor and barony of Whalton, known from the early 12th century. The location of a manorial watermill, if one existed, is unknown but a location on the How Burn, the largest watercourse in Whalton township, is a likely candidate. 

5.0.4
Previous architectural study suggests an 18th century date for the earliest elements of the standing structures. Cartographic evidence for the site starts in the early 19th century, and detailed mapping from the mid 19th century onwards shows a number of now demolished buildings of unknown date, together with remodelling of the remainder. The mill appears to have been well established by the 19th century, and it is therefore possible that this only represents the latest phase of watermill on the site.

5.0.5
Although the remains of the mill dam lie outside the development area, part of the mill race and associated sluices are within the northern-most part of the site. There is little surface trace of these features, apart from the steep slope down to the race. There may however be now buried features associated with the mill dam.

6.0
IMPORTANCE OF THE STANDING BUILDINGS

6.0.1
The buildings were assessed on 13th September 2005, by Phillip Wood and Graeme Young. A written and photographic record was compiled together with a superficial EDM survey. Three standing buildings are present within the development area. These comprise the Mill building and two ancillary structures within the south west of the area (Figure 2).  It is clear from the cartographic evidence that the present standing structures represent surviving elements of a more extensive range of building. This extended range of structures was not visible as earthwork features, but it was clear that the more northerly of the two ancillary buildings had originally been part of a more extensive structure.  

6.0.2 The mill building in its present state is a 19th century rebuild of the original 18th century mill. It was constructed throughout of sandstone blocks bonded with off white mortar, with the main wall construction of roughly squared blocks with squared dressed blocks forming the corner quoins and window and door apertures. It is rectangular in plan, measuring 14.4m east-west by 6m north-south with the main part of the building two storeys high and a small L-shaped single storey annexe on the east side. It displays little evidence of phasing within the wall construction and all the windows and features, both within and without, appear to represent a single phase of 19th century construction. The foundations of an east range of the building, traced as far as the mill race, is present as a part standing wall on the north and east sides. This clearly represents the original main mill building that would have contained the water wheel and workings. Although overgrown this area contained a substantial quantity of rubble, almost certainly derived from the demolition or collapse of the structure in this area. It was not clear therefore from an examination of the above ground remains how much of the structure was preserved at foundation level. A further rubble spread to the south extending along the bank of the mill race would appear to represent structural remains, though no building is indicated in this area from cartographic evidence.

6.0.3 Plans and elevations of the present building, including the internal floor arrangements are included as Figure 10. 

6.0.4 A full photographic record of the building has been compiled using 35mm black and white film and digital. The record included elevations of all sides of the building with a photographic scale (Plates 1- 4), photographs of the building within its setting and photographs of the internal rooms and fittings. An external record of the ancillary buildings was also compiled during the same visit. 

7.0
IDENTIFIED IMPACTS

7.0.1
Cartographic evidence from the Tithe Award map onwards shows the development of the ranges of buildings on the site. Both this and the standing structures clearly demonstrate the substantial remodelling of the site and the presence of a total of seven now demolished buildings. These buildings seem to have largely occupied the northern and western edges of the development site, although the mapping evidence is only available from the mid 19th century on. The foundations of these buildings are likely to have affected any archaeological deposits present, to an unknown depth. In addition, the date of the demolished buildings is uncertain. 

7.0.2
The ‘Fish Market’ marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map does not appear to have had any associated structures and lies outside the development area.

7.0.3 The proposed redevelopment of the site has been designed to be sympathetic to the present buildings and their surroundings. The refurbishment of the building will re-use the existing windows and doors of the main part of the building. It will impact on the annexe at the east and the remains of the mill structure that lies in the area of the proposed new build element. No information has been supplied at this time regarding whether the existing foundations will be preserved in situ.  Plans and elevations of the proposed new development are included as Figure 11. 

7.0.4 It is clear from cartographic evidence that a number previously existing, now demolished, structures could be impacted by ground works associated with the construction of services and access. No details of these elements are available at present to predict this impact.

8.0
Conclusions

8.0.1 There is indication from documentary evidence that archaeological remains could be encountered within the development area. There is no direct evidence for activity within the development area prior to the post-medieval period, although the possibility of unexpected finds exists, either unrelated to the site’s use as a mill, or representing earlier, unknown phases of watermill. 

8.0.2 There are a number of now demolished buildings of unknown date and function, identified from the map evidence of the mid 19th century onwards. These may be impacted by ground work associated with the development but this cannot be quantified until the detailed plans for the services and access have been produced. 

8.0.3
The refurbishment and extension of the present mill building have been compiled to be sympathetic to the present structure. The construction of the new east range will impact on the surviving remains of the earlier mill structure still present in this area. The full extent of this impact has, however yet to be defined. 

Text: Philip Wood and Graeme Young

Illustrations: Graeme Young
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APPENDIX I. Archaeological and Historic Sites

(within 1000m) (Figure 3)

SMR ID
Type


Grid ref.

Date

  Form

11248

Tower House

NZ13108136

Med/post-med
  Rectory

11257

Parish church

NZ13078130

Med/post-med
  Church

16852

Structure

NZ1270281327

Post-med
  Milestone

17927

Structure

NZ1307581238

Unknown
  Well

17928

River ford

NZ1235580829

Unknown
  Ford

17929

Structure

NZ1299080462

Unknown
  Well

17930

Structure

NZ1204080910

Post-med
  Mill Race



Structure

NZ1300280545

Post-med
  Mill Pond

17931

Building

NZ1298880441

Post-med
  Water Mill

17932

Fish pond (site)

NZ1303080382

Post-med
  Fish Market

17933

Bridge


NZ1341380229

Post-med
  Bridge

17934

River ford

NZ1353780078

Unknown
  Ford

19071

Stone


NZ1340379745

Unknown
  Stone

19072

Bridge


NZ1343879824

Post-med
  Bridge

19465

Building

NZ1329481404

Post-med
  Manor House

Listed building no.
Name




Grid ref.
Grade

428981


1-3 The Terrace



NZ131814
  2

428835


Manor House with wall at rear

NZ132814
  2

428710


Barn and Gingang at Glebe House
NZ134819
  2

428834


Whalton Forge



NZ133814
  2

428837


Garden walls and gate at Manor House
NZ131814
  2

428977


Manor Cottage



NZ131814
  2

428976


Garden walls and outbuilding

NZ132814
  2

428838


Garden walls and summerhouse

NZ132815
  2

428836


West Manor House


NZ131814
  2*

428978


Garden walls



NZ131814
  2

428988


West House farmhouse


NZ127815
  2

428987


Outbuilding at Lynn Law farm

NZ127815
  2

428986


Lynn Law farmhouse


NZ127815
  2

428985


Garden walls and outbuildings

NZ128814
  2

428984


Well at Whalton House


NZ128814
  2

428983


Garden wall, railings and gate

NZ128814
  2

428982


Whalton House and wall

NZ128815
  2

428980


Garden walls at Laundry Cottage
NZ131814
  2

428979


Laundry Cottage and garage

NZ131814
  2

429191


Garden walls and ha ha, East End House
NZ132813
  2

429190


East End House



NZ132814
  2

429189


Walls, Manor House/Glebe Cottage
NZ132814
  2

429188


Garden walls at Old Rectory

NZ131814
  2

429187


Outbuilding and walls, Old Rectory
NZ131813
  2

429186


Garden wall, Old Rectory

NZ130813
  2

429185


The Old Rectory


NZ131813
  2

429183


Robson Headstone, churchyard

NZ130812
  2

429182


Davison Tomb, churchyard

NZ130812
  2

429181


Renwick Headstone, churchyard

NZ130812
  2

429180


Rochester Tomb, churchyard

NZ130812
  2

429179


Church of St. Mary Magdalene

NZ130812
  2

429178


The Seven Stars pub


NZ130814
  2

429175


Well, south of West House

NZ127814
  2

428989


Garden walls, West House

NZ127814
  2

429176


1-3 South Side



NZ129814
  2

429177


The Cottage, 4 South Side

NZ129814
  2

428638


Camp House farmhouse and outbuildings
NZ139821
  2

428709


Milepost at Camp House

NZ139820
  2

428632


Beanley House



NZ133803
  2

428633


Outbuildings at Beanley House

NZ133803
  2

428712


Farmbuildings, Bonas Hill farmhouse
NZ147783
  2

428714


Kiplaw farmhouse


NZ119811
  2

428716


Ogle Castle



NZ140790
  1

428718


Barn at Ogle Castle


NZ140790
  2

428839


Terrace and Pagoda


NZ132814
  2

428833


Farmbuildings, Twizell farmhouse
NZ158787
  2

428832


Farmbuildings and wall, Twizell farm
NZ158787
  2

428831


Twizell farmhouse


NZ158787
  2

428830


Garden wall, Thorneyford farmhouse
NZ155773
  2

428829


Thorneyford Farmhouse


NZ155774
  2

428828


Shilvington Bridge


NZ149798
  2

428720


Corner Cottage



NZ137789
  2

428719


Shelter shed/granary, east of Ogle Castle
NZ140790
  2

429184


Whalton C. of E. School


NZ130812
  2

428840


Garden wall and summerhouse

NZ132815
  2

428717


Garden wall, Ogle Castle

NZ140790
  2

428715


Garden wall, gate and privy

NZ118811
  2

428713


Boundary stones at Cock Hill

NZ162816
  2

428711


Milepost at Whiteside North

NZ126813
  2

428635


Pigsty at Beanley House


NZ133803
  2

428636


Belsay Tilery



NZ112783
  2

428637


Milepost at Shiningpool Bridge

NZ114783
  2

APPENDIX II Specification

Planning ref: 05/D/426

NCCCT ref: CM27/3/4795

Grid ref: NZ12958045

LAND AT WHALTON MILL, WHALTON, NORTHUMBERLAND

Brief for an Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment and Standing Building Assessment

Introduction

A  planning application has been submitted for conversion of a disused farmhouse to create a 4-bedroomed house with internal alterations on land at Whalton Mill, Whalton (Fig 1). The site is shown as a disused mill on the 1st Edition OS map and the site of a ‘Fish Market’ is shown a short distance to the south. Pevsner states that the buildings date to the 18th century.  The proximity of the site to the village of Whalton, which is medieval in origin, raises the possibility that it may have earlier origins.   
Northumberland County Council Conservation Team has advised Castle Morpeth Borough Council the archaeological and architectural potential of the site should be further investigated prior to the determination of the planning application. 

In the first instance, Northumberland County Council Conservation Team has advised that this should take the form of an Archaeological Desk-based Assessment and a Standing Buildings Assessment. These assessments are designed to establish the potential for buried archaeological remains of post-medieval and earlier date within the site and a Standing Buildings Assessment to assess the value of the existing structures within their context.

This brief constitutes Northumberland County Council Conservation Team’s justification for the investigation, its objectives and the strategy and procedures to apply to the desk-based and standing building assessments. This brief does not constitute the ‘written scheme of investigation’. 

The brief is intended to establish the project parameters to enable an archaeological consultant or contractor to tender for the work and once commissioned to prepare and submit an appropriate Method Statement, Project Design or Specification to the Conservation Team for approval prior to work commencing. 

The extent of the development has been taken from plans attached to the planning application. The archaeological consultant or contractor will need to confirm the extent of the development and the nature of the works with the agent as part of the specification. 

The Study Area

The assessment will require a detailed assessment of the proposed development area as defined in Figure 1, and a less detailed study of the surrounding area including at least a 0.5 km radius of the site.

All work should be carried out in compliance with the codes of practice of the Institute of Field Archaeologists (IFA) 
 and will follow the IFA Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Desk-based Assessment
 and for the archaeological investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures
.

Issues to be addressed by the assessment

i) The importance of standing buildings on the site, individually and as a group.

ii) The location of known archaeological sites and landscapes within the proposed development area

iii) The potential for palaeo-environmental samples within the proposed development area

iv) The density of archaeological sites in the surrounding area and the potential that comparable sites may continue into the site

v) Previous disturbance on the site, which may have affected archaeological remains, including any significant change in levels from those indicated on old Ordnance Survey maps, and truncation by existing services on or adjacent to the site.

vi) Where the information is available, the physical impact of the proposed development including:

i) Building foundations

ii) Services

iii) Access roads 

iv) Ground reduction

v) Increased vibration

vi) Change in ground conditions on waterlogged or environmentally rich sites.

vii) If possible, the impact of the proposed development on the visual setting of the following sites within the wider study area:

i) Scheduled Ancient Monuments

ii) Listed Buildings

iii) Unscheduled archaeological sites of national or regional importance 

Specific issues to be addressed by the assessment

While the assessment should assess all of the impacts detailed in section 2.2, the report should make particular reference to:

i) The date and origin of the mill building and any associated structures.

ii) The extent of the survival of  features (internal and external) associated with the mill building.

Desk-based assessment

The desk-based assessment should look at the following sources, where available.

Site visit

A site visit should be carried out to assess:

i) The location of visible archaeological remains 

ii) The current ground conditions

Maps

i) 1716 Warburton

ii) 1753 Horsley and Cay
iii) 1769 Armstrong
iv) 1808 Smith
v) 1820 Fryer
vi) 1828 Greenwood
vii) 1829 Pigot
viii) Tithe, apportionment and parish maps
ix) Estate maps of the area
x) Ordnance Survey maps from the First Edition onwards
xi) Service providers maps and databases (Water, Electricity, Telecoms and Gas as a minimum)
xii) Other available maps, in particular any maps held in the archives in Alnwick Castle 
Northumberland County Council Sites and Monuments Record

Northumberland SMR holds copies of the following sources

i) A comprehensive record of all the known archaeological sites in the County

ii) Copies of the Scheduled Ancient Monument designations

iii) Copies of the Listed Building designations

iv) Conservation Area Boundaries

Other Sources

i) Appropriate archaeological and historical journals and books

ii) Historical documents held in local museums, libraries, record offices and archives

iii) Unpublished material held by local archaeological organisations (amateur and professional)
iv) All available borehole, trial pit and geotechnical data from the site and its immediate environs held by the developer
v) Geomorphological information may be obtained from the Soil Survey and Land Research Centre or the Geography Department at Newcastle University
vi) Existing utility and service information which may help to inform on constraints to future work.
Standing Building Assessment

In order to establish the value of the building individually and as a group of buildings, a standing buildings assessment should be carried out to former RCHME (now English Heritage) standards, following the guidelines issued by that body in 1996. 
 A copy of those guidelines is available from NCC Conservation Team on request.

This assessment should broadly adhere to Level 2 of the guidelines but some additional items will be required from other levels of the guidelines:

i) Written Account 

    This should include items 1-2, 4 and10


ii) Drawn Record 


    Items 1 – 2


iii) Photography 


    Items 1-3

NB The contractor should bear in mind this is a process of building assessment to establish the history, nature and importance (or otherwise) of the structures on the site. The aim of this exercise is NOT to prepare a complete record of the building.

Report

The desk-based assessment/building assessment is the first stage in a potential multi-staged programme of archaeological work. The assessment has been requested prior to the determination of planning permission. Further pre-determination evaluation may be required. 

Due to the strict deadlines laid out in the planning system, the archaeological contractor or consultant should submit copies of the report to Northumberland County Council Conservation Team and their client within 10 working days of being commissioned to carry out the work, unless agreed in advance with all relevant parties.

The Conservation Team require two copies of the report (one bound and one unbound)

Each page and paragraph should be numbered within the report and illustrations cross-referenced within the text.

Text

The text should include:

i) Planning application number, Northumberland County Council Conservation Team reference, OASIS reference number and an 8 figure grid reference

ii) A description of the geology on the site

iii) The nature and extent of the proposed development and client information

iv) Period based discussion of the known and potential archaeological sites within the proposed development area

v) Description of the results of the Standing Building Assessment

vi) An assessment of the importance of the standing building individually and as a group of buildings within its immediate locality.

vii) Discussion of the physical impact of the proposed development on known and potential archaeological sites 

viii) Where possible an assessment of the impact on the visual setting of Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields and unscheduled archaeological sites of national or regional importance
ix) Appendices listing:
i) All archaeological sites, Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields in the proposed development area and the wider study area. This should include all known sites and sites identified during the desk-based assessment, numbered and cross-referenced in the text with sites marked on an appropriate plan (see section 4.6) 

ii) All aerial photographs within the detailed study area and immediate environs, quoting the reference number, date and cross-referenced to the gazetteer where appropriate

iii) A copy of the specification

Illustrations

i) A location plan of the site at an appropriate scale of at least 1:10 000

ii) A location plan of the extent of the proposed development area.  This must be at a recognisable planning scale, and located with reference to the national grid, to allow the results to be accurately plotted on the Sites and Monuments Record

iii) Copies of all maps described in the text with the extent of the proposed development area marked on each map. Where copyright prevents the inclusion of a map in the report, a hand-drawn copy should be provided.    NB Some maps can be included in unpublished reports with the copyright included at the base of the map. Where possible historic maps should be transcribed either by hand or digitally, as an overlay on to the 1st Edition Ordnance Survey (or earliest OS Map) to allow details to be assessed in relation to recent features.

iv) A plan with the extent of the proposed development area and showing the location of all archaeological sites, Scheduled Monuments, Listed buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens and Historic battlefields in the proposed development area and the wider study area

v) Plans, Drawings and photographs appropriate to the building assessment required (See section 4)

vi) Any variation to the above requirements should be approved by the planning authority prior to work being submitted

Site Archive

A limited archive will need to be deposited in the appropriate local museum, once the report is produced. This should comprise:

i) A copy of the report

ii) Original illustrations and tracings that are not included in the report

iii) A digital copy of the report and illustrations, where appropriate

The archive and the finds must be deposited in the appropriate local museum, within 6 months of completion of the post-excavation work and report. 

Before the commencement of fieldwork, contact should be made with the landowners and with the appropriate local museum to make the relevant arrangements. Details of land ownership should be provided by the developer. Details of the appropriate museum can be provided by the Assistant County Archaeologist. 

Northumberland County Council will require confirmation that the archive had been submitted in a satisfactory form to the relevant museum. 

OASIS

Northumberland County Council Conservation Team and SMR support the Online Access to Index of Archaeological Investigations (OASIS) Project.  The overall aim of the OASIS project is to provide an online index to the mass of archaeological grey literature that has been produced as a result of the advent of large scale developer funded fieldwork.  

The archaeological consultant or contractor must therefore complete the online OASIS form at http://ads.ahds.ac.uk/project/oasis/. If the contractors are unfamiliar with OASIS, they are advised to contact Northumberland SMR prior to completing the form.  Once a report has become a public document by submission to or incorporation into the SMR, Northumberland SMR will validate the OASIS form thus placing the information into the public domain on the OASIS website. The archaeological consultant or contractor must indicate that they agree to this procedure within the specification/project design/written scheme of investigation submitted to Northumberland County Council Conservation Team for approval

Publication

A summary should be prepared for 'Archaeology in Northumberland' and submitted to Liz Williams, Northumberland SMR Officer, by December of the year in which the work is completed.

A short report of the work should also be submitted to a local journal if appropriate.

Further Guidance

Any further guidance or queries regarding the provision of a specification should be directed to:


Karen Derham



Assistant County Archaeologist


Northumberland County Council


County Hall


Morpeth


Northumberland


NE61  2EF


Tel:      01670 534057


Fax:     01670 533086


e-mail: kderham@northumberland.gov.uk


7 July 2005 

� Institute of Field Archaeologists, 2000, Code of Conduct


� Institute of Field Archaeologists, 1994, Standard and Guidance for archaeological desk-based assessment 


� Institute of Field Archaeologists, 2001, Standard and Guidance for archaeological investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures


� Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England (RCHME), 1996, Recording Historic Buildings. A Descriptive Specification (Third Edition)
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